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1.0 Introduction

The author was asked by Scottish Woodlands Ltd to carry out an archaeological evaluation, consisting of a desk-based assessment and rapid walk-over survey, of an area of proposed forestry planting to the NW of Loch Shin in the parish of Lairg in Sutherland. The object of the evaluation was to locate previously recorded archaeological sites and assess their extent and local or regional significance, and to identify unrecorded archaeological sites or areas of archaeological interest. This information and assessment will then be available at the planning stage of the project to allow the archaeological record to be protected by mitigation measures including, for example, planting exclusion zones surrounding the identified archaeological features. Any decisions on these protective measures should be made in consultation with the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council.

2.0 Site Description

The area of proposed planting is located on the NW side of Loch Shin, running up from the loch shore to the high ground separating this glen from Glen Cassley to the west. The area is remote, but the Cassley power station on the loch shore, with associated access roads and power lines, provide intrusive visual elements. The ground is rough and, notably in winter, waterlogged, with numerous small streams flowing NE to the loch. Despite the area being recorded as a forest in the early modern period, the ground now has scarce tree cover, restricted to sheltered water courses and the area named as Coille a Bhad Leith, although substantial tree stumps were noted within the peat.

3.0 Methodology

A desk-based assessment was carried out consulting the following data sources and archive material:

· Highland Sites and Monuments Record (SMR) held by the Archaeology Unit at Highland Council in Inverness

· Early maps held by the Map Library within the National Library of Scotland in Edinburgh

· L. Ketteringham : History of Lairg.

A rapid walk-over survey was carried out on 9.1.05. Weather conditions were poor and wet, and visibility occasionally low, while the terrain was saturated and difficult to traverse.

4.0 Archaeological Background

There is only one previously recorded within the present area of evaluation:

          Creanich, Farmstead at NC 404 225, SMR no. NC42SW0002 A farmstead consisting of one roofed, one partially roofed and one unroofed building with a head dyke is recorded on the 1st edition OS map

The lack of other recorded sites partly reflects the lack of systematic archaeological survey work on this side of Loch Shin, but also the relative inaccessibility of this area and its unsuitability for settlement. It is likely that pockets of  better ground, with associated human activity, lay along the loch shore and have now been submerged by the raising of water levels of Loch Shin. At the south end of Loch Shin is located Sallachy Broch, and previous forestry survey work has located both hut circles and associated field systems dating to the Bronze Age, and structures and land boundaries dating to the early modern period.

5.0 Historical Background

The two ranges of hills straddling the valley of Loch Shin were traditionally known as Braechat, or the Heights of Sutherland and were covered in forest,that on the south ridge called Diri-Meanigh and the north side called Diri-More. Robert Gordon, writing before 1630 described the area: ‘The western pairt of Braechat is called the barony of Gruids wherein is contained the forest of Dirri-Meanigh with Corri-kean-loch, Steill-Corri, Gravelayd and Craigskaulay; the deir of this forest and also of all the rest of the forests and chases in Sutherland are fatter and bigger than any other deir in Scotland.’ It is unclear whether the placenames listed by Gordon are settlements or topographical features. Corriekinloch is the only settlement to be named by Gordon’s and Blaeu’s maps of the 17th century, based on Pont’s survey (1583-1596). Steall a’Choire is a feature NW of Loch a’ Ghriama while Gravelayd may equate to the small settlement of Garvault on the west shore of Loch Merkland.

 Although the Dirri Meanach forest is marked to the west of Loch Shin on Blaeu’s map and Herman Moll’s map in the 18th century, no settlements are recorded south of Corriekinloch until the early 19th century. Thomson’s 1823 map records two Shealings of Gruids as well as Ascaig,  Sallachy and a Point of Gruids. The location of the shieling sites is uncertain, but all appear to lie south of the present area of evaluation. Burnett’s map, almost contemporary with Thomson’s, names the larger streams and also records Crianach Vore (Creanich). Both Creanich Mhor and Creanich Bheag are mentioned in early parish records; the latter is located on present OS maps at NC 453 188. This evidence does suggest that, within the northern part of west Loch Shin, there were three small farmsteads or townships prior to the Clearances, at Corriekinloch, Creanich Mhor and Creanich Bheag, as well as sheilings associated with the  larger areas of settlement to the south of the barony of Gruids

The lands of Gruids appear to have been an entity since the 15th century, and a barony from the mid-17th century. Having changed hands several times, it came into the possession of Sir George Munro of Poyntzfield. It is his descendent, Major Sir George Gunn Munro, who started the evictions in Gruids in 1813. The main phase of evictions took place, with memorable resistance and hardship, in 1821, and the estate converted to sheepwalks. Meanwhile, the neighbouring estate of Shinness, which included Corriekinloch, had been cleared and converted to second largest sheep farm in Sutherland between 1808 and 1819.

The 1st edition Ordnance Survey map (1879, sheet lxxiii) records three circular sheep shelters within the area of this evaluation, which would have been constructed at the time of the establishment of the sheep farm, after 1821. The map also shows the former township of Crianach Mhor, with areas of improved ground on the loch shore enclosed by a head dyke. Within this improved ground is recorded one unroofed building, while two roofed buildings are recorded immediately west of the head dyke. These are presumably the shepherds’ cottages inhabited well into the 20th century.

In 1915 three boys are recorded as crossing Loch Shin daily to attend Overscaig school. In 1942 a teacher was appointed to a side school established at Creanich for the shepherds’ children. This school must still have been functioning in 1948 when the headmaster from Overscaig attempted to cross the loch to visit, but ‘neither boat nor man was available’ It is unclear whether the shepherds were still in residence in 1959 when the waters of the loch were raised by 11m.

The Shin Hydro Scheme was constructed between 1954 and 1959, with the main dam and power station at Lairg and Inveran. The Cassley Power Station on the shore of the loch is connected to Duchally Power Station in Glen Cassley by a 4km long tunnel.

6.0 Archaeological Sites

The following archaeological sites were located during the walk-over survey

1. Drystone Dyke from NC 3740 2476 to NC 3750 2487. This dyke marks the boundary between the former Gruids Estate and Shinness, and was probably constructed when the two estates were converted to sheep farming around 1820. It is marked on the 1879 Ordnance Survey map, running NE to what was then the Abhainn a’ Choire, now flooded. Along the river were recorded small patches of improved ground probably associated with the former farmstead of Corriekinloch. This dyke does not appear to have continued up the Allt na Ba.

2. Retaining Wall at NC 3737 2474. A short section of retaining wall on the south bank of the Allt na Ba, immediately above the present bridge. It does not appear to be contemporary with the bridge, which was only constructed to serve the power stations in the 1950s. It may have been a continuation of the estate boundary dyke (site no. 1), or possibly the pier for a wooden bridge although there is no trackway recorded along the lochside.

3. Site of Sheep Shelter at NC 3846 2421. A circular sheep shelter is recorded at this approximate location on the 1st edition OS map, but not on the 1:25000 Pathfinder map based on a survey dated 1961-64. This feature was not located during this survey, and the stone was possibly removed for re-use during he construction of the power station access road and bridges in the 1950s.

4. Survey Post (?) at NC 3884 2395. A triangular sectioned concrete pillar, approximately 1.2m high, set on a rectangular concrete base. Set into the top of this is an iron tripod with a central circular hole. This is one of three such posts located during this survey, and similar although not identical to posts noted in the vicinity of other contemporary hydro-electric schemes. As the posts are not on the route of the tunnel they are probably not markers, and it is presumed that they were permanent surveying points during the construction phase of the power stations.

5. Survey Post (?) at NC 3920 2349. Identical in construction to site no. 4.

6. Sheep Shelter at NC 3905 2315. This feature is recorded on both the 1st edition OS map and the Pathfinder. It is a circular feature of drystone construction with the remains of turf copes. The only visible entrance is a low, stone linteled creep to the south of the circle. This was probably constructed during the early years of  large scale sheep farming in the 1820s.

7. Area of Tailings centred on NC 392 228. An area of spread material and access track. The material is presumably tailings from the construction of a horizontal access tunnel to the surge shaft on the main tunnel linking Duchary and Cassley power stations. The entrance to this access tunnel is located SW of the area of tailings, while the surge shaft lies outside the present area of evaluation. None of these features are strictly archaeology, but are noted as artificial features within the landscape

8. Creanich Mhor, Farmstead, centred on NC 404 225, SMR no.NC42SW0002. The following features associated with this farmstead were noted:

a. Section of Head Dyke at NC 4047 2158. A short section of what appears to be the turf and stone head dyke survives to the north of the mouth of the Allt na Crianich Mhor, immediately above the present water level of the loch. This dyke runs NE for approximately 30m before being submerged.

b. Shepherds Cottage at NC 4050 2155. The most recently occupied building here. Newspaper sheets used to line a cupboard appear to date to the 1940s, and this date matches what is known historically about a shepherd and his family living here as recently as 1948. The cottage is roofed with slate, and most of the internal woodwork is intact. The central kitchen has a stone slab floor and a cast iron range, and both gables contain fireplaces. There are two doors in the south facing wall, and two stairs, suggesting that the building may have been divided into two units. This division would have been necessary in the 1940s when a teacher lived at Creanich to run the side school for the shepherds’ children.

c. Former cottage at NC 4046 2155. A substantial ruin, until recently roofed with corrugated iron. The roof now lies in large sections just east of the building. Latterly probably in use as a barn or byre, this building would appear to have been originally a cottage, as it has a central doorway, two window openings and a blocked up fireplace in the NE gable. The building is aligned NE-SW and has attached outbuildings to the SW

d. Footings of building and sheepdip at NC 4043 2152. A fairly modern sheepdip has been built on the footings of a rectangular building, aligned 75°-255°, immediately SW of building c.

e. Fenced enclosure and footings at NC 4042 2149. This area of ground south of the buildings is not recorded as improved or enclosed ground on the 1st edition OS map. It is possible that the fenced enclosure was constructed when previous enclosures were covered by the higher water levels in the 1950s. The stone footings are difficult to interpret but may be earlier buildings.

f. Turf dyked enclosure at NC 4020 2257. An area on the east bank of the Allt na Crianach Mhor is enclosed by a turf dyke

g. Turf dyked enclosure at NC 4042 2244. A narrow area on the west bank of the unnamed stream is enclosed by a turf dyke.

9. Area of Peat Cuttings at NC 4025 2205. This point is the top of two parallel banks, 2.5m apart, the centre of areas of former peat cutting on either side. The banks run NNE and terminate in short stretches of drainage ditch. North of this are the faint banks of further workings.

10. Area of Peat Cuttings at NC 4105 2222. This point is the SE corner of an area of former cuttings. The cutting bank runs north down the slope towards the shore.

11. Survey Post (?) at NC 4012 2184. This post is identical in construction to sites 4 and 5.

12. Sheep Shelter at NC 4180 2162. This feature is recorded both on the 1st edition OS map and the present Pathfinder 1: 25000. It is of circular drystone construction but more tumbled than site no. 6. No copes remain in situ. What appear to be fallen lintel stones to the south suggest a low creep entrance similar to site no. 6. No other entrance is visible.

13. Possible shieling structure at NC 4167 2147. At the top of a bank of what may formerly have been better grazing land running up from the sheep shelter, site no. 12, are the low grassy footings of a possible structure. This is on a slight knoll, is sub-rectangular, measuring approximately 4m by 2m and is aligned E-W.

7.0 Archaeological Conclusions and Recommendations

The area covered by this evaluation contains little evidence for early occupation and land use. Unlike the more sheltered and fertile ground at the southern end of Loch Shin, there is no trace of Prehistoric occupation. The small farmstead at Creanich (site no. 8), latterly a shepherds’ cottage, shows archaeological evidence of occupation in the Early Modern period, prior to the estate’s reorganization into sheep farming. This evidence is mostly in the form of turf dykes and enclosures, as the greater part of the settlement and its arable land is now submerged. The archaelogical record supports the historical evidence for this northern boundary of the Barony of Gruids being too remote from the centre of population in the pre-Clearance period to provide practical shieling sites. Access from Gruids is more likely to have been by boat than along the loch shore. However, it should be noted that the inundation by 11m of the shore of Loch Shin in the 1950s may have submerged a strip of more favoured ground and associated archaeological features. These may show on aerial photographs of 1946, which were not examined for this evaluation.

The redundant features associated with the construction of the hydro-electric scheme in the 1950s, namely the three survey posts (sites 4,5 and 11) and the area of tailings (site no. 7) are of some historical interest and should be treated as archaeological features despite their modernity.

The following mitigations are recommended for the protection of the archaeological features within the planting scheme:

· Site no. 8, Creanich Farmstead: All the features identified here, including the two outlying turf dyked enclosures, should be treated as a single archaeological site and protected from planting by an exclusion zone extending 20m beyond the outermost feature.

· The following individual sites should be protected from planting by an exclusion zone extending 20m from the edge of the feature: sites 6 and 12, sheep shelters

· The following sites should be protected from planting by an exclusion zone extending 5m from the edge of the feature: sites 4,5 and 11, survey posts, site 7, tailings and site 13, possible shieling structure. Planting should also be kept back from the drystone dyke, site no. 1, by at least 5m.

· The section of retaining wall, site no. 2, is unlikely to be affected by planting.

· The two areas of peat cutting, sites 9 and 10, need not be protected from planting, as it is considered that sufficient archaeological information has been gained by noting their location and extent on this survey

8.0 Photographs

   Cover: Site no. 5, Hydro-Electric Scheme survey post, view from south.

1. Site no. 4, Hydro-electric scheme survey post, view from NW.

2. Site no. 4, survey post, detail. View from south.

3. Site no. 6, sheep shelter, view from SW

4. Site no. 8, Creanich farmstead, general view from SW showing buildings 8b and 8c

5. Site no. 8b, shepherds’ cottage, view from NW

6. Site no. 8a, section of turf head dyke, visible running back from shore, centre of picture.

7. Site no. 8c, former cottage converted to barn, view from south.

8. Site no. 8d, sheep dip built within footings of, and utilizing stone from, former building. View from E.

9. Site no. 8e, footings and, behind, later fenced enclosure, view from E.

10. Site no. 11, survey post, view from south.

11. Site no. 12, sheep shelter, view from SW.

12. Site no. 13, possible shieling structure, on grassy rise in centre of the picture, view from S. 
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